Chapter 7
Case Study: Postville, lowa

The Background:

News Releases
May 12, 2008

ICE and DOJ joint enforcement action at lowa meatpacking plant

CEDAR RAPIDS, lowa - U.S. Immigration and Customs Ecdonent (ICE) agents executed a
criminal search warrant this morning at Agriprocesshris, in Postville, lowa, for evidence
relating to aggravated identity theft, fraudulent use ofé&ecurity numbers and other crimes,
as well as a civil search warrant for people illegallthe United States. The announcement was
made by United States Attorney for the Northern 2istf lowa Matt M. Dummermuth and ICE
Special Agent in Charge Claude Arnold.

"This is not the first time this office has beepaat of a criminal worksite enforcement
operation," said Dummermuth. "However, this is the lsirg@eration of its type ever in lowa.
Agents and officers from federal, state, and local agsrare involved today. The coordination
and logistical planning efforts have been going on fontims"

"ICE is committed to enforcing the nation's immigratlaws in the workplace to maintain the
integrity of the immigration system,"” said Claude Arn@ggecial Agent in Charge of the ICE
Office of Investigations in Bloomington, Minnesot&Vé carry out that obligation in a fair and
responsible manner, ensuring humanitarian needs areitékeronsideration.

Anyone encountered during this operation who is discoverdeé in the United States illegally
eventually will be placed into administrative removalqaedings. So far, ICE agents have
arrested more than 300 individuals for administrative imemign violations.

All of those taken into custody during today's operatidhbeiinterviewed by ICE agents and
Public Health Service officers to determine if thayé health, caregiver, or other humanitarian
concerns. As a result of those interviews, over 4@ighgials have so far been released on
humanitarian grounds under supervision, pending future immigrptmceedings.

ICE has established a toll-free number that familynimers can call to obtain information about
the custody status and detention location of those eetaitay. That number is 866-341-3858.
Contacts were made this morning to alert local s&ha@uvernment officials and the lowa
Department of Human Services about the operation.

The men apprehended today initially will be held in hapgstablished for their detention at
Estel Hall, in Waterloo, lowa; women initially witle held at local county jails.

The investigation is being led by U.S. Immigration ansgtGms Enforcement. Other agencies
assisting today include the United States Marshals @evnited States Postal Inspections
Service; lowa Department of Public Safety; lowa Deparit of Transportation; Federal Bureau
of Investigation; Federal Protective Service; InteR@venue Service-Criminal Investigations;
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United States Department of Labor; Public Health $erwnited States Department of
Agriculture; United States Environmental Protection Ayeihowa Department of Natural
Resources; Drug Enforcement Administration; Waterlolic€ ®epartment; and the Postville
Police Department.

-- ICE --

Last Modified: Monday, May 12, 2008

U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) waabdished in March 2003 as the largest
investigative arm of the Department of Homeland SecUf@E is comprised of five integrated
divisions that form a 21st century law enforcement ageiit broad responsibilities for a number
of key homeland security priorities.

Source: ICE and DOJ joint enforcement action at lowa tpeszking plant
http://lwww.ice.gov/pi/news/newsreleases/articles/080512cauids. htm
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News Releases

May 20, 2008

85 sentenced for criminal offenses in one day follong ICE
operation in lowa

WATERLOO, lowa - U.S. Attorney Matt M. Dummermuth aamced today that 85 defendants
pleaded guilty and were sentenced Monday on federal fela@arges. They were among the 389
illegal aliens arrested by U.S. Immigration and CustBmfercement (ICE) May 12 at
Agriprocessors Inc. in Postville, lowa.

Criminal proceedings began at 8 a.m. Monday and concluded 8139 p.m.

"This is the greatest number of defendants ever to gleitgt and be sentenced in one day in the
Northern District of lowa," said Dummermuth. "Becau$a special early disposition program
approved by the Department of Justice, we have beemocabéndle this large volume of cases in
a relatively short period of time."

"Close collaboration with the U.S. Attorney's offiand our partner law enforcement agencies
resulted in a highly successful operation,” said Claudeldyspecial agent in charge of the ICE
Office of Investigations in Bloomington, Minn. "To mgain the integrity of our legal
immigration system, ICE is committed to enforcing mlagion's immigration laws in the
workplace."

Seventy-seven defendants were sentenced to prisomplefeling guilty to using a false
identification document to obtain employment and admitithegt fraudulently used the identity of
an actual person. The other eight defendants were sedtém probation after pleading guilty to
using a false identification document to obtain employrbenthe identity did not belong to an
actual person. All 85 admitted they were in the UnitedeStélegally. Those sentenced to prison
received five months in prison, three years of supetviglease, and face deportation following
their release from prison. The other eight were seetéo five years probation and face
deportation.
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According to a U.S. District Court website, additionahiings are scheduled through Thursday
(http://www.iand.uscourts.gov/cvjschdule.nsf/by+date). €sentenced to prison terms are
being held in the custody of the U.S. Marshals SerVibese sentenced to probation will be
turned over to ICE's Office of Detention and Removaéf@tions and placed in removal
proceedings.

This was an ICE-led investigation. Other agenciestsgiinclude: the U.S. Postal Inspection
Service, the lowa Department of Public Safety, tiveal®@epartment of Transportation, the FBI,
the Internal Revenue Service's Criminal Investigati@amd the U.S. Department of Labor.

- ICE —

Source: 85 sentenced for criminal offenses in one diayiog ICE operation in lowa
http://www.ice.gov/pi/news/newsreleases/articles/080520lwatétm 5/21/2008
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Two Recountings - an interpreter and a defense attorney

STATEMENT
OF
DR. ERIK CAMAYD-FREIXAS
FEDERALLY CERTIFIED INTERPRETER
AT THE
U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF
IOWA
REGARDING A HEARING ON
“THE ARREST, PROSECUTION, AND CONVICTION
OF 297 UNDOCUMENTED WORKERS
IN POSTVILLE, IOWA,
FROM MAY 12 TO 22, 2008”
BEFORE THE
SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION, CITIZENSHIP,
REFUGEES, BORDER SECURITY AND INTERNATIONAL LAW
July 24, 2008 at 11:00am
1310 Longworth House Office Building

PREPARED STATEMENT OF DR. ERIK CAMAYD-FREIXAS

Introduction

Good morning, Chairwoman Lofgren, and distinguished mendjehe Subcommittee.
My name is Dr. Erik Camayd-Freixas. | was one of 2érmteters who started the court
hearings at Waterloo on May 13, 2008, and one of approxiiehterpreters who
stayed the whole two weeks, until May 22.

The role of the Interpreter is defined in Rule 604 offfaderal Criminal Code and Rules
(1989) as both an Officer of the Court and the Court’s EXMEness. In that impartial
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capacity, | wrote my essaterpreting after the Largest ICE Raid in US Histomhich
| respectfully submit for the congressional recordnisfied the essay on June 13, with
the intention of sending it to an educational trade jaluor translators and interpreters.

| first sent my essay to the court and to the grouptefpreters with whom | worked in
Waterloo. After proper consultation and several requegtsinted permission to
forward the essay to family and friends. Immediatebggdan to receive, on a daily
basis, scores of e-mails of support from attorneyajemwics, other interpreters, and
people in all walks of life around the country. Distrilwit®y people over the Internet, in
two weeks my essay had been read by thousands, had na@»itgress, and later to
the media.

The essay can be found at the end of this statement.

In my capacity as the court’s expert witness | obsktliat the arrest, prosecution, and
conviction of 297 undocumented workers from Postville wasoaess marred by
irregularities at every step of the way, which comthitee produce very lamentable
results.

It is important to note that the initial appearanpdésa hearings, and sentencing hearings
were presided by different magistrates and judges, andhihatterpreters were the only
officers of the court who were present at every stepi® fast-tracking operation,
including the individual interviews in jail, which weretraccessible to judges or
prosecutors.

This unprecedented operation was a learning experienedt émncerned. It was also a
pilot operative to be replicated at a similar or smakale throughout the country. In this
context, it is the duty of the interpreter, as the tew@xpert, to ensure that the court is
not misled, and to bring to the court’s attention argunderstandings and impediments
to due process.

While on location, | was only able to give the caagketchy oral report. Only after
careful research, analysis, and reconstruction oévkats was | able to make a detailed
written report in the form of the abovementioned gsstreover, | had to do this after
the cases were already closed, so as not to infliibazeoutcome, which is the rationale
for the confidentiality clause in the interpreter'slemf ethics.

It is also important to note that | maintained an irtipbposition throughout the
proceedings and | remain impartial today. All my judgmergsvarrived at from such
impartial perspective, in the same way that judges aguwan emit impartial judgments
and conclusions of fact.

| had occasion to observe and document the followinglgarebin the judicial process:
1) The compound and quarters where the detainees were keptateertified by

the DOJ or the Bureau of Prisons.

2) The court failed to maintain a physical separati@hagerational independence
from the ICE prosecution.

3) There was inadequate access to legal counsel.

4) The court failed to provide a level playing field foe tfcentralized) prosecution
and the (fragmented) defense.

5) At initial appearance there was no meaningful presumpficnnocence.

6) Many defendants did not appear to understand their rggotscularly the
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meaning and consequences of waiving their right to betedlby a grand jury.

7) There was no bail hearing, as bail was automatidatied pursuant to an
immigration detainer.

8) The heavier charge of aggravated identity theft, uséxl/évage the Plea
Agreement, was lacking in foundation and never underwerjuthcial test of
probable cause.

9) Many defendants did not appear to understand their charggéts, insisting
that they were in jail for being in the country illéigdand not for document fraud
or identity theft), and insisting that they had no rght

10) Many defendants did not know what a Social Security Muislor what
purpose it serves. Because “intent” was an elemerdabf ef the charges, many
were probably not guilty, but had no choice but to plead out

11) The denial of bail, the inflated charge, and therégyed Plea Agreement
combined to create, for the many sole providers wlars#ies were put in
jeopardy, a situation of duress under which the pleas oi#egned. Under these
circumstances, the pleas, in many cases, may hamecbeeced.

12) At sentencing, the judges had no discretion to adnifustéce, as they were
presented with a binding and coerced Plea Agreement.

13) It was a foreseeable effect that, for the matey@mviders whose families were
put in jeopardy, the recommended prison sentence wouldtinefsult in a cruel
and unusual psychological punishment.

In order to accurately interpret the meaning and sgith@message, the interpreter has
to identify with and “become” each speaker. Seeing fnatin the perspective of the
other is a common procedure in legal interpreting. Wressuimed the perspective of
most defendants, | found the charges and rights to beprehensible; | felt that a great
injustice was being done; and | found their imprisonmeith their families in jeopardy,
to be an intolerable burden.

| will now concentrate briefly on the defendants’aiity to understand their charges and
rights. This was due to the interplay of four factors:

1) It was unclear to what extent the numerous ethngalaunderstood Spanish as

a second language.

2) There are vast cultural differences between MexacahGuatemalan rural

cultures, on the one hand, and American legal culturéenther.

3) It is my expert opinion as an educator that, due tio ldek of schooling and low

rate of literacy, most of the defendants had a leivebnceptuabndabstract
understanding equivalent to that of a third grader or Téssy needed much

more time and individualized legal counsel than could betenprovided by

this fast-tracking process under the average ratio ofidmslper attorney.

4) The court was put in a position of interdependencetiwiprosecution, which
resulted in the court sending very mixed messages. Fompéxatelling

defendants in chains, without right of bail, and wholsag fast-tracked without

regard for individual circumstance, that they have theymgtion innocence.

In general, the defendants were not able to understarfdrtifetched, abstract, and
derivative concept of “identity theft,” because thdytieey had not literally stolen from
anybody, but had in fagurchasedhe documents necessary to obtain work, paying up to
$300 for them.

Similarly, many had trouble understanding the charge oiaE8ecurity fraud because
they felt they had not done anyone any harm. Theplgiomderstood that both were
arbitrary charges brought by the government for the igzlson that they were in the
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country illegally and that, therefore, they had no sght

They further understood that, because they were indimetiy illegally, they had no
chance of ever wining at trial, and that its outconas wredetermined. They had lost all
confidence in our justice system. Some even distruseaddwn court appointed
lawyers, who had come to deliver a forcible Plea Agpe# that offered them no viable
option. If they pleaded not guilty, they could end up waitonggér in jail, without ball,
for a trial they felt they could never win.

Whatever rights they were told they had made absolntetjifference, so they kept
insisting that they had no rights because they wereiliegally. With their rights being
meaningless or denied, and without understanding the ndttire charges against them,
they were unable to aid in their own defense.

Their decision, both to waive grand jury indictment tiveo rights and to plead guilty,
was solely based on which was the fastest way tbag home and look after their
families. Nothing else had any real meaning.

Interpreting after the Largest ICE Raid in US History:
A Personal Account

Erik Camayd-Freixas, Ph.D.
Florida International University

June 13, 2008

On Monday, May 12, 2008, at 10:00 a.m., in an operation imgpbome 900 agents,
Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) executeddaofal\griprocessors Inc, the
nation’s largest kosher slaughterhouse and meat packindquated in the town of
Postville, lowa. The raid —officials boasted— was ‘ldrgest single-site operation of its
kind in American history.” At that same hour, 26 fedgredrtified interpreters from all
over the country were en route to the small neighbanity of Waterloo, lowa, having
no idea what their mission was about. The investigdtad started more than a year
earlier. Raid preparations had begun in December. Thi'€@ffice of the U.S. District
Court had contracted the interpreters a month aheadasunot at liberty to tell us the
whole truth, lest the impending raid be compromised. Hezation was led by ICE,
which belongs to the executive branch, whereas tBe District Court, belonging to the
judicial branch, had to formulate its own official reador participating. Accordingly,
the Court had to move for two weeks to a remote lonais part of a “Continuity of
Operation Exercise” in case they were ever disruptexhmergency, which in lowa is
likely to be a tornado or flood. That is what we wirid, but, frankly, | was not prepared
for a disaster of such a different kind, one which wasedy man-made.

| arrived late that Monday night and missed the 8pm ineééeps briefing. | was
instructed by phone to meet at 7am in the hotel lobdycarpool to the National Cattle
Congress (NCC) where we would begin our work. We arrivéddeaheavily guarded
compound, went through security, and gathered inside tlee“Ed&ctric Park Ballroom”
where a makeshift court had been set up. The Clerk ot Gelio coordinated the
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interpreters, said: “Have you seen the news? Theramwasmigration raid yesterday at
10am. They have some 400 detainees here. We’'ll be wodtmgdnducting initial
appearances for the next few days.” He then gave usarguour of the compound. The
NCC is a 60-acre cattle fairground that had been transfibinto a sort of concentration
camp or detention center. Fenced in behind the ballfamartroom were 23 trailers
from federal authorities, including two set up as sentgnoourts; various Homeland
Security buses and an “incident response” truck; scorg3eofgents and U.S. Marshals;
and in the background two large buildings: a pavilion whgents and prosecutors had
established a command center; and a gymnasium filledtigithrows of cots where
some 300 male detainees were kept, the women being housmehiy jails. Later the
NCC board complained to the local newspaper that thetyp&an “misled” by the
government when they leased the grounds purportedly for ldndh8ecurity training.

Echoing what | think was the general feeling, one ofetigw interpreters would

later exclaim: “When | saw what it was really abauy, heart sank...” Then began the
saddest procession | have ever withessed, which the pudalild never see, because
cameras were not allowed past the perimeter of thg@aond (only a few journalists
came to court the following days, notepad in hand). Dramgle-file in groups of 10,
shackled at the wrists, waist and ankles, chains draggitites shuffled through, the
slaughterhouse workers were brought in for arraignmenénshlistened through
headsets to the interpreted initial appearance, befarehing out again to be bused to
different county jails, only to make room for the nexiv of 10. They appeared to be
uniformly no more than 5 ft. tall, mostly ilitera@uatemalan peasants with Mayan last
names, some being relatives (various Tajtaj, XicaycHe, Sologui...), some in tears;
others with faces of worry, fear, and embarrassmidmay all spoke Spanish, a few
rather laboriously. It dawned on me that, aside frosir tBuatemalan or Mexican
nationality, which was imposed on their people aftéependence, they too were Native
Americans, in shackles. They stood out in stark raoatrast with the rest of us as they
started their slow penguin march across the makeshift.cad spectacle” | heard a
colleague say, reading my mind. They had all waived tlyit to be indicted by a grand
jury and accepted instead imformationor simple charging document by the U.S.
Attorney, hoping to be quickly deported since they had isrtib support back home.
But it was not to be. They were criminally chargedw#ggravated identity theft” and
“Social Security fraud” —charges they did not understand... feawkly, neither could I.
Everyone wondered how it would all play out.

We got off to a slow start that first day, because’'$@farcode booking system
malfunctioned, and the documents had to be manually santegrocessed with the help
of the U.S. Attorney’s Office. Consequently, lessthahird of the detainees were ready
for arraignment that Tuesday. There were more thanginmterpreters at that point, so
we rotated in shifts of three interpreters per heafwgrt adjourned shortly after 4pm.
However, the prosecution worked overnight, planning omatéamidnight court
marathon the next day.

| was eager to get back to my hotel room to find outenadoout the case, since

the day's repetitive hearings afforded little informatiand everyone there was mostly
refraining from comment. There was frequent but sketehys on local TV. A colleague
had suggestetihe Des Moines Registeé3o | went to DesMoinesRegister.com and
started reading all the 20+ articles, as they appeareddegchnd the 57-pad€E
Search Warrant ApplicatiarThese were the vital statistics. Of Agriprocess86s8
current employees, about 75% were illegal immigrants.eltvere 697 arrest warrants,
but late-shift workers had not arrived, so “only” 390 wanested: 314 men and 76
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women; 290 Guatemalans, 93 Mexicans, four Ukrainians, &ed tbraelis who were not
seen in court. Some were released on humanitarian grdaédsostly mothers with
unattended children, a few with medical reasons, and 18ilesevere temporarily
released with ankle monitors or directly turned overdigportation. In all, 306 were held
for prosecution. Only five of the 390 originally arreshed any kind of prior criminal
record. There remained 307 outstanding warrants.

This was the immediate collateral damage. Postuvilal (pop. 2,273), where

nearly half the people worked at Agriprocessors, hadli@sof its population by
Tuesday morning. Businesses were empty, amid looming centet if the plant closed
it would become a ghost town. Beside those arrested; haahfled the town in fear.
Several families had taken refuge at St. Bridget’'s Cat@¥lurch, terrified, sleeping on
pews and refusing to leave for days. Volunteers froncoinemunity served food and
organized activities for the children. At the locghschool, only three of the 15 Latino
students came back on Tuesday, while at the elememdnyiddle school, 120 of the
363 children were absent. In the following days the gralavent around town on the
school bus and gathered 70 students after convincing thetpéodet them come back to
school; 50 remained unaccounted for. Some American paremislained that their
children were traumatized by the sudden disappearancentdrspof their school

friends. The principal reported the same reaction irclssrooms, saying that for the
children it was as if ten of their classmates had sugd@d. Counselors were brought
in. American children were having nightmares thatrtparents too were being taken
away. The superintendent said the school district’s fu@®unclear: “This literally

blew our town away.” In some cases both parents pieked up and small children were
left behind for up to 72 hours. Typically, the mother wdcaddreleased “on humanitarian
grounds” with an ankle GPS monitor, pending prosecution goadrtiion, while the
husband took first turn in serving his prison sentencgarvhile the mother would have
no income and could not work to provide for her child&mme of the children were
born in the U.S. and are American citizens. Sometiome parent was a deportable alien
while the other was not. “Hundreds of families wenetapart by this raid,” said a
Catholic nun. “The humanitarian impact of this raidlwious to anyone in Postville.

The economic impact will soon be evident.”

But this was only the surface damage. Alongside the maumageous actions

and expressions of humanitarian concern in the trueridamespirit, the news blogs were
filled with snide remarks of racial prejudice and bigopgorly disguised beneath an
empty rhetoric of misguided patriotism, not to mentiamittsults to anyone who publicly
showed compassion, safely hurled from behind a cowandiiyeonickname. One could
feel the moral fabric of society coming apart bendadh.

The more | found out, the more | felt blindsided intcaasignment of which |

wanted no part. Even though | understood the rationalglftire secrecy, | also knew
that a contract interpreter has the right to refusd avhich conflicts with his moral
intuitions. But | had been deprived of that opportunity. Novas already there, far from
home, and holding a half-spent $1,800 plane ticket. So | féedtrating dilemma. |
seriously considered withdrawing from the assignmenthiefirst time in my 23 years as
a federally certified interpreter, citing conflict oterest. In fact, | have both an ethical
and contractual obligation to withdraw if a conflictiatierest exists which compromises
my neutrality. Appended to my contract are 8tendards for Performance and
Professional Responsibility for Contract Court Interpreters in theeff@ Courts where
it states: “Interpreters shall disclose any real ocgieed conflict of interest... and shall
not serve in any matter in which they have a ccndif interest.” The question was did |
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have one. Well, at that point there was not enouglteace to make that determination.
After all, these are illegal aliens and should be dedoert@o argument there, and hence
no conflict. But should they be criminalized and impresd Well, if they committed a
crime and were fairly adjudicated... But all that remainebdg®een. In any case, none of
it would shake my impartiality or prevent me from failyf discharging my duties. In all
my years as a court interpreter, | have taken fromtg®at in countless criminal cases
ranging from rape, capital murder and mayhem, to terronamncotics and human
trafficking. | am not the impressionable kind. Moreoas ,a professor of interpreting, |
have confronted my students with every possible cosflienario, or so | thought. The
truth is that nothing could have prepared me for the progpéelping our government
put hundreds of innocent people in jail. In my ignoranakdisbelief, | reluctantly
decided to stay the course and see what happened next.

Wednesday, May 14, our second day in court, was to beyalma The

interpreters were divided into two shifts, 8am to 3pm and @ph®pm. | chose the latter.
Through the day, the procession continued, ten by tem,dfter hour, the same charges,
the same recitation from the magistrates, the saoesf chains and shackles, on the
defendants. There was little to remind us that theywaetually 306 individuals, except
that occasionally, as though to break the monotorg/vayuld dare to speak for the
others and beg to be deported quickly so that they couldHeedamilies back home.
One who turned out to be a minor was bound over for dagmmmt The rest would be
prosecuted. Later in the day three groups of women wetght, shackled in the same
manner. One of them, whose husband was also arresiedeleased to care for her
children, ages two and five, uncertain of their wheoeitdh Several men and women
were weeping, but two women were particularly grief kemc One of them was sobbing
and would repeatedly struggle to bring a sleeve to her baséger wrists shackled
around her waist simply would not reach; so she just drippgldshe was taken away
with the rest. The other one, a Ukrainian woman, edd and arraigned separately when
a Russian telephonic interpreter came on. She spolistdta cellular phone, while

the interpreter told her story in English over the kpgzhone. Her young daughter,
gravely ill, had lost her hair and was too weak to wate had taken her to Moscow and
Kiev but to no avail. She was told her child neededpsration or would soon die. She
had come to America to work and raise the money te bav daughter back in Ukraine.
In every instance, detainees who cried did so for tidgren, never for themselves.

The next day we started early, at 6:45am. We were tatdat had to finish the

hearings by 10am. Thus far the work had oddly resembledaajuasembly line where
the meat packers were mass processed. But things weretalget a lot more personal
as we prepared to interpret for individual attorney-clantferences. In those first three
days, interpreters had been pairing up with defense aygtadelp interview their
clients. Each of the 18 court appointed attorneys reprexsdi7 defendants on average.
By now, the clients had been sent to several stateaunty prisons throughout eastern
lowa, so we had to interview them in jail. The aty with whom | was working had
clients in Des Moines and wanted to be there fiiggtin the morning. So a colleague
and | drove the 2.5 hours that evening and stayed ovemnightotel outside the city. We
met the attorney in jail Friday morning, but the diehad not been accepted there and
had been sent instead to a state penitentiary in Mewtmther 45-minute drive. While
we waited to be admitted, the attorney pointed out thgorewhy the prosecution wanted
to finish arraignments by 10am Thursday: according tavtiteof habeas corputhey

had 72 hours from Monday's raid to charge the prisonersl@ase them for deportation
(only a handful would be so lucky). The right of habeapus, but of course! It dawned
on me that we were paid overtime, adding hours to theidaymad rush to abridge
habeas corpus, only to help put more workers in jail. Nosally felt bad. But it would
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soon get worse. | was about to bear the brunt of mffictoof interest.

It came with my first jail interview. The purpose wasthe attorney to explain

the uniform Plea Agreement that the government wasiodl. The explanation, which
we repeated over and over to each client, went lilse Tiere are three possibilities. If
you plead guilty to the charge of “knowingly using a falsei&d&ecurity number,” the
government will withdraw the heavier charge of “aggradadentity theft,” and you will
serve 5 months in jail, be deported without a hearingpdacced on supervised release
for 3 years. If you plead not guilty, you could wait in @&ilo 8 months for a trial
(without right of bail since you are on an immigrataetainer). Even if you win at trial,
you will still be deported, and could end up waiting longgailrthan if you just pled
guilty. You would also risk losing at trial and receiving-gear minimum sentence,
before being deported. Some clients understood their ‘fegdtlzetter than others.

That first interview, though, took three hours. Therntli a Guatemalan peasant

afraid for his family, spent most of that time weepagur table, in a corner of the
crowded jailhouse visiting room. How did he come hermftauatemala? walked.”
What?“l walked for a month and ten days until | crossed the riv&vé understood
immediately how desperate his family’s situation was.ckbssed alone, met other
immigrants, and hitched a truck ride to Dallas, then\Rllestwhere he heard there was
sure work. He slept in an apartment hallway with ottmenigrants until employed. He
had scarcely been working a couple of months when hawested. Maybe he was
lucky: another man who began that Monday had only beeking for 20 minutes. “I
just wanted to work a year or two, save, and then gk toamy family, but it was not to
be.” His case and that of a million others could sinygysolved by a temporary work
permit as part of our much overdue immigration reforme@ood Lord knows | was
just working and not doing anyone any harm.” This mé&e, rhany others, was in fact
not guilty. “Knowingly” and “intent” are necessary elemenfghe charges, but most of
the clients we interviewed did not even know what ag&ecurity number was or what
purpose it served. This worker simply had the papers filedaw him at the plant, since
he could not read or write Spanish, let alone Englisth.tBe lawyer still had to advise
him that pleading guilty was in his best interest. He waable to make a decision. “You
all do and undo,” he said. “So you can do whatever you wintme.” To him we were
part of the system keeping him from being deported baclks tcolintry, where his
children, wife, mother, and sister depended on him. Hethelr sole support and did not
know how they were going to make it with him in jait 8 months. None of the
“options” really mattered to him. Caught between despairhopelessness, he just wept.
He had failed his family, and was devastated. | wensdone napkins, but he refused
them. | offered him a cup of soda, which he superstitjadestiined, saying it could be
“poisoned.” His Native American spirit was broken andbald no longer think. He
stared for a while at the signature page pretending toitresdthough | knew he was
actually praying for guidance and protection. Before heessigwith a scribble, he said:
“God knows you are just doing your job to support your fasjikend that job is to keep
me from supporting mine.” There was my conflict of iet, well put by a weeping,
illiterate man.

We worked that day for as long as our emotional fortialtbeved, and we had to

come back to a full day on Sunday to interview the a€tte clients. Many of the
Guatemalans had the same predicament. One of them,emd@gl, worried that his
parents were too old to work, and that he was thesugport for his family back home.
We will never know how many of the 290 Guatemalans hgitineate asylum claims for
fear of persecution, back in a country stigmatized bywvtwest human rights situation in
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the hemisphere, a by-product of the US-backed Contraiw@mwsntral America under the
old domino theory of the 1980s. For three decades, antgiest government death
squads have ravaged the countryside, killing tens of thousadddisplacing almost two
million peasants. Even as we proceeded with the headumygy those two weeks in
May, news coming out of Guatemala reported farm workeirggkassassinated for
complaining publicly about their working conditions. Notyomave we ignored the many
root causes of illegal immigration, we also will nekapw which of these deportations
will turn out to be a death sentence, or how manhede displaced workers are last
survivors with no family or village to return to.

Another client, a young Mexican, had an altogetherreiffecase. He had worked

at the plant for ten years and had two American bougld®rs, a 2-year-old and a
newborn. He had a good case with Immigration for an ardgrg of status which would
allow him to stay. But if he took the Plea Agreeméetwould lose that chance and face
deportation as a felon convicted of a crime of “meugbitude.” On the other hand, if he
pled “not guilty” he had to wait several months infauil trial, and risk getting a 2-year
sentence. After an agonizing decision, he concludedhtéhbad to take the 5-month deal
and deportation, because as he put it, “I cannot be mamaymy children for so long.”

His case was complicated; it needed research in imnaigriatv, a change in the Plea
Agreement, and, above all, more time. There werer gihvelar cases in court that week.

| remember reading that immigration lawyers were aalihat the detainees were being
rushed into a plea without adequate consultation on thegnaion consequences. Even
the criminal defense attorneys had limited opportunitjméet with clients: in jail there
were limited visiting hours and days; at the compound tvaxelittle time before and
after hearings, and little privacy due to the constagggace of agents. There were 17
cases for each attorney, and the Plea offer wasgmalg for 7 days. In addition, criminal
attorneys are not familiar with immigration work anidewersa, but had to make do
since immigration lawyers were denied access to tleeiseinal” proceedings.

In addition, the prosecutors would not accept any chaogie tPlea Agreement.

In fact, some lawyers, seeing that many of theamtd were not guilty, requested an
Alford pleg whereby defendants can plead guilty in order to accegtrtbsecution’s
offer, but without having to lie under oath and admitdmsthing they did not do. That
would not change the 5-month sentence, but at leasisepres the person’s integrity
and dignity. The proposal was rejected. Of course, if diflewed Alford pleas to go on
public record, the incongruence of the charges would besegpand find its way into the
media. Officially, the ICE prosecutors said the Pleaeg&grent was directed from the
Department of Justice in Washington, D.C., that theyewot authorized to change it
locally, and that the DOJ would not make any case &g e&ceptions when a large
number of defendants are being “fast-tracked.” Presuniaidy gave different terms to
one individual, the others will want the same. Thistpos however, laid bare one of the
critical problems with this new practice of “fastdkang.” Even real criminals have the
right of severancewhen co-defendants have different degrees of respldpstbiere is

an inherent conflict of interest, and they can asia@rosecuted separately as different
cases, each with a different attorney. In fast-tragknowever, the right of severance is
circumvented because each defendant already has a difasennumber on paper, only
that they are processed together, 10 cases at a tirtlas Abint, it is worth remembering
also that even real criminals have amrABhendment right to reasonable bail, but not
illegal workers, because their immigration detainer malkadsa moot issue. We had
already circumvented habeas corpus by doubling the coudisdss hours. What about
the Gh Amendment right to a “speedy trial”? In many stateséslge means 90 days, but
in federal law it is vaguely defined, potentially excegdime recommended sentence,
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given the backlog afeal cases. This served as another loophole to force § glak.
Many of these workers were sole earners begging topmeteel, desperate to feed their
families, for whom every day counted. “If you want &2 our children or don’t want
your family to starve, sign here” —that is what tltksal amounted to. Their Plea
Agreement was coerced.

We began week two Monday, May 19th. Those interpretecslefhafter the first

week were spared the sentencing hearings that wentaugthThursday. Those who
came in fresh the second week were spared the j&d giger the weekend. Those of us
who stayed both weeks came back from the differesthaitdened by a close personal
contact that judges and prosecutors do not get to expereaxeindividual tragedy
multiplied by 306 cases. One of my colleagues began theydsgylmg “I feel a
tremendous solidarity with these people.” Had we lostirapartiality? Not at all: that
was our impartial and probably unanimous judgment. We hadagtsrneys hold back
tears and weep alongside their clients. We would see jupigescutors, clerks, and
marshals do their duty, sometimes with a heavy hsanietimes at least with mixed
feelings, but always with a particular solemnity natcaded to the common criminals we
all are used to encountering in the judicial system. yewvex was extremely professional
and outwardly appreciative of the interpreters. We devdlapaong ourselves and with
the clerks, with whom we worked closely, a camaradertegood humor that kept us
going. Still, that Monday morning | felt downtrodden bg 8heer magnitude of the
events. Unexpectedly, a sentencing hearing lifted mgsspir

| decided to do sentences on Trailer 2 with a judge | knem feal criminal trials

in lowa. The defendants were brought in 5 at a timeaussethere was not enough room
for 10. The judge verified that they still wanted to pleadtyyuand asked counsel to
confirm their Plea Agreement. The defense attornieiytbat he had expected a much
lower sentence, but that he was forced to accepgtfeeiment in the best interest of his
clients. For us who knew the background of the mattat,wéigue objection, which was
all that the attorney could put on record, spoke volumtter Accepting the Plea
Agreement and before imposing sentence, the judge gadefdreants the right of
allocution. Most of them chose not to say anything,dne who was the more articulate
said humbly: “Your honor, you know that we are here bseaf the need of our
families. | beg that you find it in your heart to senchame before too long, because we
have a responsibility to our children, to give theneducation, clothing, shelter, and
food.” The good judge explained that unfortunately he wasreetto depart from the
sentence provided for by their Plea Agreement. Tedhniedat he meant was that this
was a binding 11(C)(1)(c) Plea Agreement: he had to ata@pteject it as a whole. But
if he rejected it, he would be exposing the defendarasttial against their will. His
hands were tied, but in closing he said onto them vdityedately: “| appreciate the fact
that you are very hard working people, who have cometbeite no harm. And | thank
you for coming to this country to work hard. Unfortungtgbu broke a law in the
process, and now | have the obligation to give youstigence. But | hope that the U.S.
government has at least treated you kindly and with resped that this time goes by
quickly for you, so that soon you may be reunited with yamily and friends.” The
defendants thanked him, and | saw their faces changesfiame to admiration, their
dignity restored. | think we were all vindicated at thrmtiment.

Before the judge left that afternoon, | had occasiotaltoto him and bring to his
attention my concern over what | had learned inahénjerviews. At that point |
realized how precious the interpreter’s impartialityytis) and what a privileged
perspective it affords. In our common law adversaristiesy, only the judge, the jury,

Ch. 7 Pg. 12



and the interpreter are presumed impartial. But the judgersrsed in the framework
of the legal system, whereas the interpreter is@elspn, an outsider, a true
representative of the common citizen, much like “a pfrigis peers.” Yet, contrary to the
jury, who only knows the evidence on record and is géyergamiliar with the

workings of the law, the interpreter is an informegé&rgon. Moreover, the interpreter is
the only one who gets to see both sides of the cotlage, precisely because he is the
only participant who is not a decision maker, and is everlyated, by his oath of
impartiality and neutrality, from ever influencing thecg@®ns of others. That is why
judges in particular appreciate the interpreter’s perspeasian impartial and informed
layperson, for it provides a rare glimpse at how tharii® of the legal system look from
the outside. | was no longer sorry to have participatedyi capacity as an interpreter. |
realized that | had been privileged to bear witnessstoriic events from such a unique
vantage point and that because of its uniqueness | now tisd duty to make it known.
Such is the spirit that inspired this essay.

That is also what prompted my brief conversation withjudge: “Your honor, |

am concerned from my attorney-client interviews thahy of these people are clearly
not guilty, and yet they have no choice but to plead di#.understood immediately and,
not surprisingly, the seasoned U.S. District Court Judgkesas someone who had
already wrestled with all the angles. He said: “You knbdgn't agree with any of this

or with the way it is being done. In fact, | ruled ipr&@vious case that to charge
somebody with identity theft, the person had to at lkeasw of the real owner of the
Social Security number. But | was reversed in anottstrictiand yet upheld in a third.” |
understood that the issue was a matter of judicial ctaterThe charge of identity theft
seemed from the beginning incongruous to me as an infipimpartial layperson, but
now a U.S. District Court Judge agreed. As we bid eadr dahewell, | kept thinking of
what he said. | soon realized that he had indeed hiaihen the head; he had given me,
as it were, the last piece of the puzzle.

It works like this. By handing down the inflated chargéamfgravated identity

theft,” which carries a mandatory minimum sentenc® géars in prison, the government
forced the defendants into pleading guilty to the lessamgehand accepting 5 months in
jail. Clearly, without the inflated charge, the goveeminhad no bargaining leverage,
because the lesser charge by itself, using a falsalS®murity number, carries only a
discretionary sentence of 0-6 months. The judges woultebdd impose sentence
within those guidelines, depending on the circumstanceaahf case and any prior
record. Virtually all the defendants would have receivelgl probation and been
immediately deported. In fact, the government’s offeéhathigher end of the guidelines
(one month shy of the maximum sentence) was indedamgain. What is worse, the
inflated charge, via the binding 11(C)(1)(c) Plea Agreemrextuced the judges to mere
bureaucrats, pronouncing the same litany over and ovéndaecord in order to legalize
the proceedings, but having absolutely no discretion asideemaking power. As a
citizen, | want our judges to administer justice, nagdefal agency. When the executive
branch forces the hand of the judiciary, the resabisse of power and arbitrariness,
unworthy of a democracy founded upon the constitutionatiptenof checks and
balances.

To an impartial and informed layperson, the processnigsd a lottery of

justice: if the Social Security number belonged to soraezise, you were charged with
identity theft and went to jail; if by luck it was acant number, you would get only
Social Security fraud and were released for deportatiotihid manner, out of 297 who
were charged on time, 270 went to jail. Bothered by thigrariness of that heavier
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charge, | went back to th€E Search Warrant Applicatiofpp. 35-36), and what | found
was astonishing. On February 20, 2008, ICE agents receigid security “no match”
information for 737 employees, including 147 using numbersroosd by the SSA as
invalid (never issued to a person) and 590 using valid S$N#ever the numbers did
not match the name of the employee reported by Agrigsaes...”™This analysis

would not account for the possibility that a person may have faiseded the identity of
an actual person’s name and SSNh my training and expertise, | know it is not
uncommon for aliens to purchase identity documents wihiadlide SSNs that match the
name assigned to the number.” Yet, ICE agents checkadiA;ahe powerful identity
database used by law enforcement, and found that 983 engptbgegear had nonmatching
SSNs. Then they conducted a search of the FTC Con&enénel Network

for reporting incidents of identity theft. “The searelealed thaha person who was
assigned one of the social security numhesed by an employee of Agriprocessoas
reported his/her identity being stoléi hat is, out of 983 only 1 number (0.1%)
happened to coincide by chance with a reported idengft, thhe charge was clearly
unfounded; and the raid, a fishing expedition. “On April 16, 2888 US filed criminal
complaints against 697 employees, charging them with unlgwfihg SSNs in

violation of Title 42 USC 8408(a)(7)(B); aggravated identift in violation of 18 USC
81028A(a)(1); and/or possession or use of false identity dodsrfeg purposes of
employment in violation of 18 USC 81546.”

Created by Congress in an Act of 1998, the new federmisdfof identity theft,

as described by the DOJ (http://www.usdoj.gov/crimirelififwebsites/idtheft.html),
bears no relation to the Postville cases. It spadifistates: “knowingly uses a means of
identification of another person with the@ent to commit any unlawful activity or feldny
[18 USC 81028(a)]. The offense clearly refers to harndldnious acts, such as
obtaining credit under another person’s identity. Obtginiork, however, is not an
“unlawful activity.” No way would a grand jury find probaliause of identity theft

here. But with the promise of faster deportation, tiggiorance of the legal system, and
the limited opportunity to consult with counsel beforagnment, all the workers,
without exception, were led to waive thett Amendment right to grand jury indictment
on felony charges. Waiting for a grand jury meant momtffel on an immigration
detainer, without the possibility of bail. So the attys could not recommend it as a
defense strategy. Similarly, defendants have the rghatdtatus hearing before a judge,
to determine probable cause, within ten days of arraghnbut their Plea Agreement
offer from the government was only good for... seven dagssing it up, meant risking
2 years in jail. As a result, the frivolous chargedeitity theft was assured never to
undergo the judicial test of probable cause. Not only wefendants and judges bound
to accept the Plea Agreement, there was also absohatelefense strategy available to
counsel. Once the inflated charge was handed downegli¢hes fell into place like a
row of dominoes. Even the court was banking on it whagreed to participate, because
if a good number of defendants asked for a grand jury grttr@system would be
overwhelmed. In short, “fast-tracking” had worked like aaan.

** you can read the rest of this essay at:
http://judiciary.house.gov/hearings/pdf/Camayd-Freixas08072#%pd
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About Dr. Erik Camayd-Freixas:
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Dr. Erik Camayd-Freixas is Associate Professor ofnLAmerican Literature, Director of the
Translation & Interpretation Program, and DirectdhefResearch Initiative on Immigration Reform
at Florida International University. A Harvard-trashanalyst, social theorist, and expert linguist at
federal and state courts, Dr. Camayd has trained mane3{000 interpreters and regularly works
on Spanish television broadcasts of presidential speectiespecial events. He has interpreted for
eight heads of state, including President Obama and PaeliBeXVI.

Dr. Camayd was a federal interpreter at the Posthallea hearings following the May 12, 2008 raid
at AgriProcessors, Inc. He made international headlirii his essay, “Interpreting after the Largest
ICE Raid in U.S. History: A Personal Account,” denouagcihe criminalization of workers, and
deconstructing the totalitarian agenda of immigrationmeiment and the politics of intolerance of
what he calls “a dark period in American history.”

His essay provoked a congressional investigation, whidught him to testify before the
Immigration Subcommittee on July 24, 2008. He started workingediately in the Postuville relief
effort centered on St. Bridget’s Church. He received\iigonal Association of Criminal Defense
Lawyers President’'s Commendation for his defense of duseps and equality under the law. In
August he began rallying labor unions, interfaith gro@rsl the Hispanic Caucus to demand a
moratorium on raids, forwarding numerous resolutions tp $tart Rep. Luis Gutierrez’s family
protection campaign. In September he founded the Resewdtiatiie on Immigration Reform at
Florida International University. In October he iniewed 94 Postville prisoners in federal detention,
obtained affidavits of abuses, and forwarded them to Reégren, who demanded an investigation
from Atty. Gen. Mukasey and Sec. Chertoff. He compiladge theft list on behalf of the workers
for the lowa DOL to proceed against the employer, anckedb intensively with the Florida
Immigrant Advocacy Center (FIAC) and the Guatemalandaspand Consulate to locate, protect,
and expedite the post-sentence deportation of the vgorier later received the FIAC Altruism
Award and the Humanitarian Award from the Guatemalan povent. In November he began
working with NYU Law School preparing an amicus briefttie USSC against identity theft in U.S.
v. Flores-Figueroa. This resulted in a unanimous Supremet @Qecision on May 4, 2009. In
December 2008 he began working on documenting ICE abusesualityoduring raids and home
invasions for the Immigration Subcommittee. He was etet2008 Linguist of the Year” by the
Inttranet Global Network of Translators, based in Ro&eance. In January 2009 he lobbied the
Guatemalan Government for the establishment of a Depdreintegration Program. He is the
recipient of the American Immigration Lawyers Asstioia 2009 Human Rights Award.

Dr. Camayd has continued to lecture and write in supptwirofin rights and a moratorium on raids,
and against the separation of families, the persecationgrants, and the horrors of detention and
human tagging. He is currently engaged, through his resgaoclp, in finding solutions for
immigration reform, and advocating for AQJOBS and the BRIEAct. His present focus is on
designing a transnational system of legal and administnatotections for exploited guest workers,
and a guardian ad litem program for asserting the famity tughts of U.S.-born children.
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Letter from Court-Appointed Defense Counsel:Rockne Cole, Esg., lowa City, lowa
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A
/‘COLE & VONDRA, LLP

Rockne CoLE & DAN VONDRA  Artorneys at Law | cuowe (319) 398-1900  =ax (319) 358-1902

July 24, 2008
Representative Zoe Lofgren
Washington, D.C. Office
102 Cannon HOB
Washington, D.C. 20515

Re: May 12, 2008 Postville Immigration Raids
Dear Congresswoman Lofgren:

Your Legal Advisor Traci Hong contacted me last week, and asked me to submit
a written statement in connection with the Congressional hearing on the immigration
raids in Postville, lowa. I told her that I had a fairly limited role in this process, but that
would be willing to describe my experience of May 12, 2008.

May 12 began like any other day. 1arrived at the office, and began reading my
email. At about 9:30 a.m., my partner, Dan Vondra, knocked on my door, and told me
“the raids have begun and the black helicopters are flying over Postville.” Homeland
Security officials had rented the Cattle Congress several weeks before, but no one knew
when or where the raid would take place. We anticipated that the raid would probably
proceed like the Swift plant packing raid in Marshalltown, lowa last year. I then checked
the internet, looked at the initial photos, and then went back to work.

A short time later, Denise Pickens, a clerk in the Northern District of lowa, called
me. Ms. Pickens used to be the appointment clerk for Criminal Justice Act appointments
for the federal court in Cedar Rapids, lowa. About two years ago, the Federal Defender
consolidated Criminal Justice Act appointments into the office of the Chief Public
Defender in Des Moines, Iowa, and now all appointments usually begin with a phone call
from Des Moines. Ms. Pickens told me that there was going to be a special mesting at
the United States District Courthouse in Cedar Rapids at 1:30 p.m. that afternoon, and
that I should not tell anyone about the meeting. So I drove up to Cedar Rapids to see
what this meeting was about.

I went up to the Main Courtroom on the 3™ Floor. T saw approximately 10-15
defense lawyers whom I knew to be on the Criminal Justice Act Panel in Cedar Rapids. ]
also saw: Assistant United States Attorney (AUSA) Stephanie Rose; Chief Clerk of Court
Robert Phelps; some United States marshals, and I believe some probation officials. At
some point early in the presentation, Chief Clerk Phelps handed out what I can only
characterize as guilty piea handbooks. These handbooks described all of the elements of
offenses, and essentially contained a bock of waivers of various rights of the defendants.
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Mr. Phelps also passed around a sign up sheet with requests for our cell phones, and
email addresses.

AUSA Rose began the meeting by scanning the audience for media officials.
After she determined that no media were present, she began the presentation. She
immediately began discussing the so called “representation plan.” She indicated each
attorney would be assigned a group consisting of 10 clients. She indicated that we could
be expected to represent up to 40 defendants, and that they were expecting possibly 700
defendants. As it turns out, I believe the Des Moines Register confirmed an average of
17 clients per attorney.

She then described the four possible pleas deals being offered to each group. The
first deal was a plea to a felony (I do not recall which), and immediate placement in the
custody of Bureau of Immigration and Customs Enforcement. So in other words, the
defendant was offered no jail time, but the client would have a felony in the record. The
second deal, and apparently most common, was a five month jail sentence to be followed
by immediate deportation to their home countries. The third category was 12 months and
one day. 1believe the fourth category was reserved for defendants with significant
aggravating facts such as prior aggravated felonies, or violent histories. I do not recall
the specific felony that had to plead to but all the felonies were basically some variation
on the use of a forged identification card to get a job.

At one point, I asked if she had considered that any of the defendants were
innocent. She replied that they could opt out and proceed on the regular docket if they
wanted to. I do not recall at that time whether she indicated that the United States was
threatening an aggravated identity theft charge if they opted out. Ihave subsequently
learned that any defendant refusing such a deal could face the aggravated identity theft.

My next question focused on the presentence investigation reports. 1 have
probably represented about 5-7 federal defendants on fake papers charge in the past. In
the typical case, the client had entered without inspection, and consequently had no legal
status in the United States to protect. They often had already admitted to possession of
the fake identification document, and consequently such cases were difficult to defend.
Most resulted in “time served” plea deals. In those simple cases, we had often
complained to probation about why they needed to do a full pre-sentence investigation
report on the Defendants IF they chose to get deported as soon as possible. In fact, at one
conference last year, United States District Court Judge John Jarvey even told one of the
probation officers that a full presentence report was not necessary in the run of the mill
case. The United States Attorney’s Office and the Probation Office had often strongly
resisted waiver of presentence reports on two grounds. First, they did not want to miss
prior criminal convictions, which can increase the prison sentence. Secondly, the
probation office did not get full credit for an abbreviated presentence report. So they
wanted to do a full presentence repott to keep their funding up for more probation
staffing.
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I asked Ms. Rose how they could be doing such a quick guilty plea process when
they had so strenuously resisted abbreviated reports in the past. I asked her why they
were not concerned about missing criminal convictions as they had in the past. She
replied that these were Rule 11 (¢) (1) (C) plea deals. In the typical plea deal, the court is
not bound by the sentencing recommendations of each party. She is only limited by the
statutory maximum penalty and the advisory sentencing guidelines. A Rule 11 (c) (1) (C)
allows the court to be bound to the sentencing recommendations of the United States and
defendant. At the guilty plea hearing, the court notifies the parties if she will accept the
guilty plea, and if she does, she is bound to the sentencing recommendation of the Parties.
If not, the defendant can withdraw the plea. This effectively guarantees that the
defendant will get the agreed upon sentence on the plea bargain, and avoid the risk of a
longer sentence before the judge. What I found most astonishing is that apparently Chief
Judge Linda Reade had already ratified these deals prior to one lawyer even talking to
his or her client. Judge Reade’s presence at the meeting seemed to confirm as much.
This directly violates Rule 11 piea procedure, which provides that the “court must not
participate in these [plea] discussions.” Moreover, this ratification appeared to be ex
parte with the United States Attorney’s office. Indeed, it had to have been ex parie
because no lawyers had even met with their clients prior to these Rule 11 (c) (1) (C) plea
bargains being announced.

Ms. Rose concluded by stating that plea status hearings would begin by Saturday,
May 17, 2008, and that the clients would have seven days to accept offer. She justified
the quick time line because they were concerned about getting the defendants back to
their families in Guatemala as soon as possible. Especially considering this extremely
rushed process, I realized that the acceptance of such an appointment would have
required me to immediately report myself to the [owa Bar Association for failing to
protect a client’s right to conflict free counsel. Iowa Rule of Professional Responsibility
32:1.7 (a) and (b) provides that a lJawyer shall not represent a client if there is a
significant risk of conflict, and that any consent to conflict shall be in writing. The
potential conflicts were obvious. For example, suppose, under the group representation
plan, that an attorney simultaneously represents a woman with a Violence Against
Women Act adjustment case against her husband, and her husband in a different group.
In this situation, the wife may have a good claim to adjust status, and remain in the
United States on the basis of her status as a victim of domestic violence. Her husband
will likely be prosecuted for domestic abuse, and could be deported on the basis of being
the abuser. Their interests directly conflict. Other examples come to mind. What if one
of the workers helped the other to obtain the false paper? That person would certainly be
a witness for either the defense, or the United States. Moreover, if such potential
conflicts existed, the 6 Amendment compels disclosure to the Court, and on the record
colloquy by the District Court to ensure the client’s right to conflict free counsel. See
Holloway v. Arkansas 435 U.S. 475, 485-486 (1978) (defense attorneys have the
obligation, upon discovering a conflict of interests, to advise the court at once of the
problem.). Under these circumstances, it would have impossible to meaningfully assess
conflict of interest issues in seven days.
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After Ms. Rose described the plea deals, a United States marshal began describing
the Orwellian security plan. Each atforney accepting an appointment had to arrive carly
the following day at the Cattle Congress for processing and to obtain a photo
identification card. I think these cards were similar to a necklace type press credential.
He then told us that attorneys would be able to meet with clients in a designated
representation zone. He indicated that each attorney could not walk around Cattle
Congress grounds without an escort by a United States marshal. He also advised us of an
evacuation plan in case of any disturbance. At that point, I felt that I could not participate
in the mass violation of rights. Iinformed Mr. Phelp that T would not be participating.

He said, “Ok, please turn in your 3-ring binder.” I then walked out in disgust. Chief
Judge Reade was there for at least 10 minutes. I do not recall at which point she left. T
think at some point AUSA Stephanie Rose advised her it would be a good time to leave
as people began asking about the details of these deals.

Obviously, I am fairly reluctant to openly criticize Judge Reade. 1 have pretty
much resigned myself to not taking any more appointments in her district. However, in
spite of the financial repercussion for taking this position, I simply could not stay silent
on this issue. The Clerk of Court issued a press release talking about the roundup of
illegal aliens. This process: presumed guilt; deprived defendants of their right to due
process; and interfered with their basic right to choose their own counsel. The court
appointed attorney’s role appeared to be only to act as a guilty plea processing clerk, and
served only to expedite the mass waiver of rights. From what I can infer based upon the
facts from the initial meeting as well as subsequent media reports, Judge Reade, and the
United States Attorney’s office coordinated the mass detention, roundup, representation
plan, plea deals, and sentencings PRIOR to one single attorney consulting with a client. I
hope I am wrong about that inference, but the overwhelming facts suggest a breath taking
level of coordination between the United States District Court Judge and the Department
of Justice. Inevertheless strongly encourage the Committee to keep an open mind, and
to afford all officials involved a fair hearing, which unfortunately was not given to the
Defendants in Postville.

EIY’

Lo

Rockne Cole
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The Law
Syllabus

NOTE: Where it is feasible, a syllabus (headnotd)heilreleased, as is being done in connection
with this case, at the time the opinion is issued Siiabus constitutes no part of the opinion of
the Court but has beenprepared by the Reporter of Deifsio the convenience of the reader.
See United States v. Detroit Timber & Lumber Co., 2061321, 337.

SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES
Syllabus
FLORES-FIGUEROA v. UNITED STATES

CERTIORARI TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FO R THE EIGHTH
CIRCUIT

No. 08-108. Argued February 25, 2009—Decided May 4, 2009

A Federal statute forbidding "[a]ggravated identity thefiposes a mandatory consecutive 2-year
prison term on an individual convicted of certain preddaatmes if, during (or in relation to) the
commission of those other crimes, the offender "knglyi. . . uses, without lawful authority, a
means of identification of another person.” 18

U. S. C. 81028A(a)(1) (emphasis added). After petitioner &lBigueroa, a Mexican citizen,
gave his employer counterfeit Social Security and aégrstration cards containing his name but
other people's identification numbers, he was arrestédl@zarged with two immigration offenses
and aggravated identity theft. Flores moved for acquittahe latter charge, claiming that the
Government could not prove that he knew that the docwmamnbers were assigned to other
people. The District Court agreed with the Governmestt tiie word "knowingly"” in
81028A(a)(1) does not modify the statute's last three wtwflanother person,” and, after trial,
found Flores guilty on all counts. The Eighth Circuitrafd.

Held: Section 81028(a)(1) requires the Government to shawthb defendant knew that the
means of identification at issue belonged to anothesopeAs a matter of ordinary English
grammar, "knowingly" is naturally read as applying tola subsequently listed elements of the
crime. Where a transitive verb has an object,H&ste in most contexts assume that an adverb
(such as "knowingly")that modifies the verb tells tkeeher how the subject performed the entire
action, including the object. The Government does notige a single example of a sentence
that, when used in typical fashion, would lead the hdararcontrary understanding. And courts
ordinarily interpret criminal statutes consistentlyhwthe ordinary English usage. Seqy.,

Liparota v. United States, 471 U.S. 4TBe Government argues that this position is incorrect
because it would either require the same language todsprieted differently in a neighboring
provision or would render the language in that pro-visiggesluous. This argument fails for two
reasons. Finally, the Government’s arguments baséldeostatute’s purpose and on the practical
problems of enforcing it are not sufficient to overeotine ordinary meaning, in English or
through ordinary interpretive practice, of Congress’ woRjs 4-11.

274 Fed. Appx. 501, reversed and remanded.
BREYER, J., delivered the opinion of the Court, in WROBERTS,

Ch. 7 Pg. 20



C. J., and STEVENS, KENNEDY, SOUTER, and GINSBURG, jdihed. SCALIA, J., filed an
opinion concurring in part and concurring in the judgmeniyhich THOMAS, J., joined.
ALITO, J., filed an opinion concurring in part and conagrin the judgment.

*k%k

Discussion

Scope for review of the Postville convictions in tigif the Supreme Court’s decision in
Flores-Figueroa, above?

The IIRIRA institutes a tighter system of checks - ibutust be remembered that tighter
doesn't necessarily mean better. For example, thialsecurity Administration and the INS are
going to be the backbone of the new employment veidicaystem. But the SSA admits that as
much as fifteen to twenty percent of its databadawsetl or inaccurate. What does this mean for
the fifteen or twenty percent of the people who apptydbs, are run through the system and
then cannot be given work authorization through theaseecurity or INS computer? The
burden then shifts on these individuals to provide protheif ability to live and work in the
United States. This could certainly pose some uniqueemshior some job applicants.
Secondly, it is arguable as to why a job applicant wheoW.S. citizen or permanent resident
should have to bear the burden of proof for the faildiiee government computer to provide the
correct information. It is also important to notatt while the investigation of the work
authorization proceeds, the applicant may not work. \Wieat, does the applicant do to support
himself or herself and his or her family?

Of course, there is are several legitimate goal oinin@igration laws - and one of those is
to curb curb illegal immigration. But the bar on adjusttred status for aliens who are present in
the U.S. illegally really doesn't help. First of afipst of these aliens have family and extended
family in this country many of who are citizens andnp@nent residents. Removing them from
the United States causes incredible hardship to thesdlg faembers. Secondly, most of these
aliens are hard working, self-supporting individuals. Treelto be - they're not eligible for any
government safety net of welfare or unemployment lisneh fact, numerous studies have
shown that illegal immigrants aren't flooding the USAWelfare benefits; they're coming here to
take the lowest jobs on the economic ladder. Ovetalllies show, aliens contribute far more
than they take - or are alleged to take - from theesystSo they are not taking anything away
from the government or the tax payers - they arerglpisinesses find scarce labor and often
times undertaking jobs that nobody else wants to do.

Local Response to Undocumented Aliens - Arizona SB 1070

The Arizona law passed in April 2010 authorizing law enfoeet to question the
immigration status of virtually any individual has reweb& disturbing trend in a sizeable section
of the US population, that is now being mirrored in sgh&ate legislatures. Specifically,
Subsection (B) of Article 8, of Section 2, title 11, ptea 7, of the Arizona laws — the first section
of the Arizona law SB1070, reads as follows:

B. FOR ANY LAWFUL CONTACT MADE BY A LAW ENFORCEMENTOFFICIAL OR
AGENCY OF THIS STATE OR A COUNTY, CITY, TOWN OR OTER POLITICAL
SUBDIVISION OF THIS STATE WHERE REASONABLE SUSPICNEXISTS THAT THE
PERSON IS AN ALIEN WHO IS UNLAWFULLY PRESENT IN THEINITED STATES, A
REASONABLE ATTEMPT SHALL BE MADE, WHEN PRACTICABLETO DETERMINE
THE IMMIGRATION STATUS OF THE PERSON. THE PERSONBMIGRATION

Ch. 7 Pg. 21



STATUS SHALL BE VERIFIED WITH THE FEDERAL GOVERNMEN PURSUANT TO 8
UNITED STATES CODE SECTION 1373(c).

Nowhere in SB 1070 is there a definition of what “Lavw@antact” is supposed to be.

The effect of this omission — whether wilful or noisprofound: what this means is that a police
officer can, on “lawful contact” — and therefore witihdANY suspicion of any illegal activity,
stop a person to ask about that activity and in the eafrthat inquiry, also inquire about the
person’s legal status if the officer suspects (agaixptanation of the basis for such suspicion)
that person is “unlawfully present” in the United States

This means that if a person is standing at a bus stagsweet corner, or is walking along a street
and a police officer has some occasion for “lawfultaoti, not only can that person be stopped,
he or she would then be subject to questioning about hisraactivities and in the course of that
guestioning, asked about his or her immigration statushemdfirther be asked to produce
documents.

“What are you doing here”? Sounds Communist, Fascigaisbplain uninformed? It probably is.

The ramifications of such a horrible and harsh measw@w®bvious, but are clearly being ignored
by the uninformed elements in the US population that wahts to penalize over and over again
the undocumented alien who lives and works in their migigtn though these undocumented
aliens are most often doing jobs that US workers dovamt to do, SB 1070 legalizes tracking,
hunting down, and deporting these undocumented workers. Nothisjlbut the law allows
private citizens to sue the Arizona entity that dassemforce these laws! The entity would have
to pay a fine to the State for any violation!

There are so many questions that the law leaves upegdvwHere are but a few of the most
glaring omissions:

What is a “Lawful Contact?” What gives a police offiee“reasonable suspicion”.

Is it a person’s attire? Is it that the person doésinioto his or her surroundings? Is it the dirt
under the person’s fingernails? How will police officdetermine who is suspicious and who is
not? Will there be heightened suspicion for people whoaddit in or who are of a different
ethnicity compared to the majority of the populatiothia area? This law legalizes racial profiling
and discrimination in the worst sort of way. The El@ws police to claim — without any

evidence — that the police had a “suspicion” of a peradrtlzerefore stopped and questioned that
person. If that person is indeed undocumented, that peimad e removed from the United
States thus sharply reducing the likelihood that the pdégartment is going to be sued for civil
rights or constitutional violations.

The law immunizes police officers for activities tatuld be considered entrapment and
penalizes employers who are “predisposed” to hire undoceshatiens. How such
predisposition is proved is also unclear. An employer Ineagntrapped into hiring undocumented
aliens and have no defense to an officer’s testinloaiyhe or she was “predisposed” to hire an
alien.

A US citizen may be criminally charged and convicteddiaving an undocumented alien to a
hospital or to child care or to a grocery store*. Themo exemption for “good samaritans”
under SB 1070. Maybe when officers arrest and charge sweig bld, white granny who was
helping her undocumented church members get to an appointivemfinally, Arizona’s “tough”
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policy will start to crumble.

In its rush to “get tough” on undocumented aliens, theoiazlegislature has clearly sacrificed
the rights of even US citizens and the ability of Ewforcement officers to stop crime and
apprehend criminals. Gone is any vestige of cooperatomthe public in the investigation of
crimes. Even citizens or documented aliens may b&dvacome forth for fear of drawing
attention to themselves or their friends or relative

“Show us your papers.”

Even if immigration documents are produced, does the offemee enough training to recognize
that the papers are valid or not? What about, for exgrtipg student visa that has expired, but
the student who has legally entered the USA under tbatawid is in legal status in the USA
during the duration of his or her studies? What aboutisitervwho’s extension for stay is
pending? Or the business visitor who leaves his pasispibet hotel safe? Throw them all into jail
pending USICE clearance? What about the citizen who nimtesarry any identification? What
about the burden on the taxpayer? What about the inhatengets assaulted in jail? Who pays
for the damages awarded in lawsuits against the statbampdlice?

Even citizens are not immune from unlawful arrest amahgful prosecution: Keep in mind that
there is no “national ID card” and that IIRIRA spexafly admonished against creation of such a
document. So if a citizen does not have a Driver&nbe or carry around a US passport, how
does a citizen prove US citizenship? Carrying aroundla &ertificate really does not help — it is
a record of a person’s birth, nothing more. It doesbeatr a current photo of the person who is
the subject of the birth certificate. So how doegizen show proof of citizenship? College or
other photo ID’s are likewise non-determinative indaidJS citizenship for the same reason.

Not only does the law violate fundamental civil riglelements of the law clearly invite
challenges under the Fourth, Sixth and Fourteenth ametslioetihe Constitution. Under the
Constitution, immigration is clearly a federal subjextt one relegated to the States. Several
lawsuits have been filed against the Arizona law, malteloubtless be filed once the law is
implemented. On June 19, the federal government declared weauld also jump into the fray,
filing a lawsuit to block the Arizona law.

Conclusion:

There is no question that the US immigration systemisserious and substantive repair; but SB
1070 is not the answer. This knee-jerk reaction to thelgmoof undocumented immigration is il
conceived, poorly informed, and badly drafted. Only Congmsive Immigration Reform (CIR)
offers sensible and permanent systemic improvemermsrtourrent immigration crisis. Stay
attuned to this critical issue for further developments.

*(View the hardships that immigrants go through to buile:tdy life before you jump to
conclusions about undocumented aliens. Watch the mowriee'®os”
(http://reformimmigrationforamerica.org/blog/moms-farily-unity/) to see the “other side”.)

Only time will tell whether the current structure untiex INA and under the IIRIRA
really achieves the above goal of curbing illegal imatign. It seems clear, though that without
amendments to the IIRIRA, the law will hurt deservipgleants for permanent residency much
more than it will help to curb illegal immigration.

* * *
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Questions and Discussion - Chapter 7

|. After reading the materials in your text relatinghe Postville, lowa ICE raids, imagine that
your role is that of a defense attorney. You must uakerthe assignment.

Now that you have chosen to defend the accused:

. What types of problems do you see in your represenfation

. What specific problems do you see in representing yants?

. What is your duty as an attorney?

. What would you do in the Postville circumstance?

. How would you provide zealous, competent representatiorr tinel€ircumstances?
. What strategies, if any, would you employ in defending wtiants?

. Would you seek assistance? How? Where?

Il. Assume that next month there is a similar raidkmon, Ohio at a plastics manufacturing plant.
50 or so Kenyan workers are apprehended. How would you &eplyssons you learned from
your representation in the Postville raids?

[Il. What is your task as an attorney? What are ydaligations to your clients? What is your

obligation as an “officer of the court?” - See Ohe model rules and Code of Professional
Responsibility.
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